No. 22-125,166-A
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS, Plaintiff-Appellant

VS

YADIRA ANDAZOLA, Defendant-Appellee

VS.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas Honorable James T. George, District Judge Pro Tem District Court Case No. 2021-CR-000663

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Brenda J. Clary, #18770 Law Office of Brenda J. Clary 810 Pennsylvania St., Ste. 203 Lawrence, KS 66044 Phone: 785-691-7879 BClary@sunflower.com Attorney for Appellant

Nature of the Case

Defendant Yadira Andazola was found guilty of domestic battery of her 18-year-old son and criminal damage to property following bench trial. Defendant admits she slapped her son and damaged the mobile phone he used but appeals the district court's conclusion that her acts constituted crimes under the circumstances.

Statement of the issues

- I. <u>Defendant is entitled to the defense of parental discipline when her 18-year-old son lives in her home, attends high school, and submits to household rules and expectations.</u>
- II. The District Court erroneously construed a mobile phone as a gift to Defendant's son rather than Defendant's property.

Statement of the Facts

Miguel Andazola ("Miquel") testified that he lived with his mother, Defendant Yadira Andazola ("Andazola") on July 23, 2021. (R. III, 4-5.) He had been out with friends in Eudora and returned home late, "past midnight for sure." (R. III, 4.) He testified that he and his mother got into an argument after he got home late, "past a curfew." (R. III, 5.) She wanted the car key and phone and, he assumed, to "ground" him, but he kept the keys and phone. (R. III, 5.) He was 18 years old at the time. (R. III, 6.) He testified that when he would not hand over the phone and

keys, she started yelling and "just smacked him" at least three times. (R. III, 6.) At some point Andazola reached into Miquel's pocket to get the car key and pulled out the phone while he kept the key. She threatened to smash the phone if he did not give her the key. He did not, so she "smashed it," shattering the screen and cracking the case, leaving it unusable. (R. III, 7-8.) He testified he paid \$450 for the phone. (R. III, 9.)

On cross-examination, Miguel agreed that he had been at work earlier in the evening but got off early, called his mother for permission to go to Lawrence for dinner with friends, naming a person who was familiar to his mother. (R. III, 10-11.) He also agreed that she had tried to contact him throughout the evening and said she was just checking on him. (R. III, 11.) He agreed that that he would not say who he was with and that he was not in Lawrence, where he had told his mother he would be. (R. III, 11-12.)

As to his actual location, he testified as follows:

- "Q. (By Ms. Clary) And throughout the evening, your mother attempted to, or did contact you several times; is that correct?
- A Just checking up, but, yes, correct.
- Q And asked where you were?
- A Un, I think it—no, it was just checking on here [sic], Are you okay? Yes.
- Q And you had told her you were going to Lawrence?
- A Uh-huh.
- Q Did you ever tell her, no, I am in Eudora?
- A I told her I was going around Eudora, it wasn't in—it was technically Eudora, but it was closer to Lawrence, and it was just in between, more or less.
- Q And she asked you who you were with?

- A I—Aaron. She did ask me who I was with, sorry.
- Q And you said friends?
- A Yes.
- Q Okay. And you wouldn't ever tell her who you were with?
- A I didn't think she would know who I was with, so I didn't feel the need to give her first and last names. All right." (R. III, 11-12.)

Miquel testified on cross examination that he left about eight in the evening and got home about two in the morning. (R. III, 12-13.) He agreed both that his mother "would" worry and that he was driving her car. (R. III, 14.) He testified that his mother continued to ground him after he turned 18 and agreed that he was expected to follow the rules while he lived at home and that he was still in high school. (R. III, 16.)

On cross examination, Miquel denied his mother paid for the phone and explained that he gave her cash and she paid with her card and said he paid his share of the phone service each month. (R. III, 14.)

Deputy Travis Warren testified that he responded to a call for a domestic disturbance at Defendant's home and spoke with Defendant. He testified she told him that she and Miquel argued because she was trying to find out where he was and he kept texting different locations and would not tell her where he was. When he arrived, she tried to get her car keys, and when he would not surrender them, she tried to get them from pocket but grabbed the phone instead and threw it on the ground breaking it. He further testified she told him she slapped Miguel several times in the course of the argument for calling her names, including "whore." (R. III, 20.)

Master Deputy Bryon Revell testified that he responded to the call and spoke with Miguel. (R. III, 23-25.) He testified that Miguel appeared fine, with no visible injuries, his clothes were not in disarray, and his demeanor was "fine, normal." (R. III, 25, 28.)

Andazola testified the household consisted of herself, her 15-year-old son, and Miguel, who was 18 but still in school. He was a senior at the time of trial. (R. III, 32). She later added that, as a single mother, she had raised two biological sons on her own and the third who was adopted. (R. III, 35.)

She testified that when he turned 18, Miguel had said he could move out and rent a friend's shed, to which she responded that if he would pay rent somewhere else, he should start paying some "around here" and paying his own phone bill. (R. III, 32-33.) They agreed on \$100 per month. Her purpose was for him to start learning responsibility, but it was never consistent. (R III, 33.)

Andazola testified that Miguel worked about 25 to 30 hours per week, which he was able to do during the school year because he had opted out [of attending in person] because of COVID and took his classes online. (R. III, 34.) She further testified that he was expected to live under her rules and while he had to ask permission to use her car, he did not need to ask permission to go somewhere, but he typically reported where he was and when he would be home. (R. III, 34.) As a mother, she was concerned when he, a new driver, was out with the car but said "he's a good kid" and she trusted his character and judgment. (R. III, 35.)

Andazola testified that she bought the phone because she wanted him to have it with him for security and emergencies when he was out driving her car. (R. III, 36.) She testified that he had paid her one time for his cell phone bill and \$100 once for rent, and on another occasion, he gave her two to three hundred dollars in cash but not specifically for the phone. (R. III, 36.)

Andazola testified that she was not under the influence of anything at the time of the incident, that she did not drink, did not smoke, and had never "done anything" in her life. (R. III, 36-37.) Miguel had asked if he could go to dinner with his friend Nakos and his girlfriend. Andazola was familiar with Nakos, and the boys spent nights at each other's homes. (R. III, 37.) He said they would go to Lawrence and be back around midnight. (R. III, 38.)

Andazola testified she texted between 10:00 and 11:00 "checking up," which the normal pattern with Miguel and her other boys, and he answered he was fine and would be home later. (R. III, 38-39.) Around 12:30, she started calling Miguel, but he was not answering. When he finally did, around 1:00 or 1:30, she asked where he was but did not get a clear answer, and he said he was with friends but did not name Nakos or anyone else, which she thought was odd. (R. III, 39.)

Andazola testified that she was tired and had to work the next day, and when Miguel arrived home after two, she said "just give me the key to the car." (R. III, 39-40.) Miguel said "no," and she said, "I need the key," and again he answered, "no." (R. III, 40.) They continued to argue over the key, and Miguel said, "Oh, just go to bed, we'll talk abut it tomorrow." (R. III, 40.) Andazola felt her teenager son was disrespecting her by sending her to bed. R. III, 40.)

Andazola testified, "At some point I reached for his pocket to try to get the key out of his pocket, and, um, there was no keys in his pocket. Um, I grabbed ahold of his phone that was in his pocket. . . . At that point, the tables had turned. He said, Oh, give me my phone," and she demanded the car key. They were yelling back and forth at each other, and she said, "Well, this is my phone. If I want to break it, I can break it" and tossed it across the floor. (R. III, 40-41.)

Andazola testified Miguel responded, "Fuck you" and she slapped him. He said "Fuck you," and she slapped him again, and he said, "Fuck you, you fucking whore," and she slapped

him again. She thought it was a total of four slaps, one for each "Fuck you" and another for "Fuck you, you fucking whore." (R. III, 41.) She said he had never disrespected her or cussed around her. (R. III, 40.)

Andazola testified she later found the key in the ashtray of the car. (R. III, 43.)

Andazola further testified that she considered the phone hers, and she permitted him to use it but never expected payment from him. (R. III, 43.)

The court sustained the State's objection to relevance when Andazola was asked about her views on corporal punishment for the discipline of a child, agreeing with the State that "There is no corporal punishment for an adult." (R. III, 44.) However, the court did overrule the State's objection to a question about what Andazola would have expected if she had spoken to her parent that way when she was 18. (R. III, 45.) Andazola said that when she was 18, she was a single mother, living in her own home, but she was taught to respect her parents and not talk to them a certain way or else "we would get slapped," and if Miguel had spoken to her that way six or eight months earlier, she would have slapped him. (R. III, 45, 49.) She did not consider that she was slapping an adult. Miguel did not have a full-time job, was a full-time student, and was still her dependent, living in her house under her rules. He was a teenager and she was in mother mode and not thinking he was 18. (R. III, 45.)

Andazola testified she was surprised that her son was acting that way and when she calmed down, she began to think he was with "new friends" and maybe trying something new because his behavior was "not like him." (R. III, 46.)

Andazola testified she was trying to teach her son and that she would never hurt her kids.
(R. III, 50.)

Argument and Authorities

I. Defendant is entitled to the defense of parental discipline when her 18-year-old son lives in her home, attends high school, and submits to household rules and expectations despite the son's chronological age.

Evidence was undisputed that Defendant slapped her son, causing no visible injury, in response to his disrespectful conduct and language. Evidence was undisputed that Miguel was 18 years old but lived at home, was still in high school, and was generally expected to comply with household rules and subject to consequences if he failed to do so. The trial court ruled that the affirmative defense of parental discipline was not available to Defendant because Miquel was 18 years old and therefore not a child.

Standard of Review: Whether an affirmative defense exists to a criminal charge presents a legal question that we must review independently, without any required deference to the district court. *State v. Branson*, 38 Kan. App. 2d 484,Syl. ¶ 1, 167 P.3d 370 (2007).

Andazola was charged with domestic battery, in violation of K.S.A. 21-5414(a)(2)(c)(1)(A). In order to prove that charge, given the undisputed relationship of the parties and the subsection, the State had to prove that she unlawfully and knowingly caused physical contact with her son in a rude, insulting, or angry manner. The charge differs from a simple battery charge only in the relationship of the parties. See K.S.A. 21-5413(a)(2).

Kansas courts have long recognized the common law privilege of a parent to use reasonable corporal punishment to discipline a child as a defense to battery or even murder charges. See, e.g., *State v. Severns*, 158 Kan. 453, 148 P.2d 488 (1944)(reversing conviction of capital murder of defendant's eight year old niece and holding that defendant was entitled to an instruction on his theory of defense, discipline of a child *in loco parentis*, as well as lesser included offense instructions justified by the same theory despite egregious nature of physical discipline); *State v.*

Wade, 45 Kan. App. 2d 128; 245 P.3d 1083 (Kan. App. 2010), rev. den'd, State v. Wade, (2011)(reversing defendant's conviction of battery of his girlfriend's son, holding that the trial court erroneously refused to instruct the jury on the affirmative defense of parental discipline, depriving defendant of a fair trial).

Although each of these cases involves a child under the age of 18, there is no specification of an age limit in Kansas cases. The pattern jury instruction also does not specify any applicable age of the child. It merely says, "It is a defense to the charge of (battery)(aggravated battery) if a parent's use of physical force upon a child was reasonable and appropriate, and with the purpose of safeguarding the child's welfare or maintaining discipline." PIK Crim. 3d 54.311. This appears to be an issue of first impression in Kansas.

Decisions from other states offer limited guidance. Ohio courts have held the defense inapplicable to charges involving children over the age of 18 who are not physically or mentally handicapped. See, e.g., *State v. Miller*, 134 Ohio App. 3d 649, 652, 731 N.E.2d 1192 (1999)(affirming conviction of a father who struck his eighteen-year-old daughter across the legs with a belt in an effort to punish her for failing to return home to care for her young brother). However, the rational is based on the provisions of R.C. 2919.22(B), which defines child abuse and endangerment of a child under the age of 18 or a mentally or physically handicapped child under the age of 21 and explicitly includes only cruel or excessive physical punishment, discipline, or restraint. 134 Ohio App. 3d at 652. In *State v. Miller*, the dissent argued, as the appellant had, the defense should be available to any parent who retains the legal responsibility to support the child. The dissenting judge opined,

"Because neither the legislature nor the Ohio Supreme Court has defined when the parental right to discipline a child ends, we must do so in this case. My colleagues' choice of the magic age of eighteen, as set out in the child-endangering statute, [footnote omitted] has some merit in that it establishes a 'bright-line rule.' But the bright line is somewhat blurred

by the fact that it also applies after eighteen (and under twenty-one) if the child is mentally or physically handicapped. Thus, the anomaly exists that had the person here been handicapped, the defense would apply.

Instead, we should choose as a bright line the language in the support statute [footnote omitted] that also applies between the ages of eighteen and twenty-one if the person is still a high- school student. A parent supporting a high-school student should have the defense of reasonable parental discipline available. Of course, whether corporal punishment is appropriate in any instance is debatable. But, in the absence of injury to the child, we should leave that decision to the parents." *State v. Miller*, 134 Ohio App. 3d 649, 653-54; 731 N.E.2d 1192 (1997).

This seems to be the better rule. If a parent still has responsibility for the child, the parent should have the attendant authority to control the conduct of the child.

The defense is defined by common law, not by statute, and is well established in Anglo American jurisprudence as noted in *State v. Wade*, 45 Kan. App. 2d 128, 136-37, and cases cited therein. The age of majority has varied over time and the statutory age of majority still varies with the rights and responsibilities involved.

At the turn of the twentieth century, the age of majority in Kansas was 21 for males and 18 for females. Gen. Stat. Kan. 1899 Ch. 67, §1 (Dassler), and by 1949, the age of majority was 21 for both sexes, except with respect to contracts, property rights, and capacity to sue and be sued of legally married persons over the age of 18. Gen. Stat. Kan. Ann Ch. 38, §1 1949 (Corrick). K.S.A. 38-101 currently provides that the age of minority extends to the age of 18 years, except married persons over the age of 16 are considered of the age of majority with respect to certain rights and responsibilities relating to contracts, law suits, and property ownership.

While he had reached the current statutory age of majority and could have voted, entered into contracts, and sued and been sued in his own name, Miguel was not an adult for all purposes as the following examples demonstrate.

If Andazola had been obligated to pay child support, she would have been obligated by statute until June 30 following the school year in which Miguel turned 18 and possibly through the following school year. See K.S.A. 23-3001(b). Given the age requirement to start first grade, which is six years of age on or before August 31, K.S.A. 72-3118, most high school students will spend a significant portion of their senior year over the age of 18 and living in the family home just as they did at 17. Clearly, for the purpose of having a right of child support as a child who is a high school student, an eighteenth birthday does not mean the child ceases to be a child. The trial court's comment that if Defendant did not like Miguel's behavior, she could have "trespassed him out" of the house (R. III, 58-59) fails to consider Miguel's status as a high school student and Defendant's attendant responsibility to support him. Expecting a parent to kick a high school student out of the house rather than discipline him is poor public policy indeed.

An 18-year-old cannot buy alcohol in Kansas, K.S.A. 41-727(b), and can legally drink only in the presence of a parent or legal guardian who is permits the consumption. K.S.A. 41-727(e). Given that statutory law imposes that duty of supervision upon a parent of a child between 18 and 21, taking away the ability to discipline, and freedom to administer reasonable discipline as the parent sees fit, would be nothing short of irrational.

Furthermore, in this case, Miguel continued to submit himself to his mother's discipline and household rules. He believed he was about to be grounded when he returned home late. An old Iowa case reversed the conviction of battery of a teacher, holding that a student who voluntarily submits to a school's authority and rules, even if over the age of 21, can be disciplined with corporal punishment in accordance with those rules and the court should have proceeded to determine if the discipline was reasonable. *State v. Mizner*, 45 Iowa 248, 252, (Iowa Sup. 1876).

As noted in *State v. Wade*, 45 Kan. App. 2d 128, 136, 245 P.3d 1083 (2010), the defense is defined by the common law, not by statute. The privilege looks to relationship of the parties, reasonableness of the contact, and intent. Although frustration and anger may accompany any act of corporal punishment, the intent is to discipline, protect, and teach the child.

In refusing to consider the parental privilege to use reasonable corporal punishment as a defense, the trial court refused to evaluate evidence of *mens rea* and only looked at *actus reas*. The defense of parental discipline, without regard to age of the alleged victim, negates *mens rea*.

Andazola was charged with unlawfully and knowingly causing physical contact with Miguel in violation of K.S.A. 21-5414(a)(2)(c)(1)(A). In relevant part, the Kansas Criminal Code defines the culpable mental state of "knowingly" as follows

- "(a) Except as otherwise provided, a culpable mental state is an essential element of every crime defined by this code. A culpable mental state may be established by proof that the conduct of the accused person was committed "intentionally," "knowingly" or "recklessly."
- (b) Culpable mental states are classified according to relative degrees, from highest to lowest, as follows:
 - (1) Intentionally;
 - (2) knowingly;
 - (3) recklessly....
- (i) A person acts "knowingly," or "with knowledge," with respect to the nature of such person's conduct or to circumstances surrounding such person's conduct when such person is aware of the nature of such person's conduct or that the circumstances exist. A person acts "knowingly," or "with knowledge," with respect to a result of such person's conduct when such person is aware that such person's conduct is reasonably certain to cause the result. All crimes defined in this code in which the mental culpability requirement is expressed as "knowingly," "known," or "with knowledge" are general intent crimes. K.S.A. 21-5202

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