No. 22-125,166-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

YADIRA ANDAZOLA
Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas Honorable James T. George, Judge Pro Tem District Court Case No. 21CR663

> Jon Simpson, #26455 Assistant District Attorney Douglas County District Attorney's Office 111 E 11th Street Lawrence, Kansas 66044 Phone: (785) 841-0211 Fax: (785) 832-8202 jsimpson@douglascountyks.org daappeals@douglascountyks.org

Attorney for Appellee

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Andazola's legal right to physically discipline Miguel ended when he turned 18.

Andazola first claims that this Court should reverse her domestic battery conviction because the district court erroneously denied her the affirmative defense of parental discipline. (Appellant's Br., 7–11, 14.) She finds no Kansas authority that addresses what rights a parent has to physical discipline their 18-year-old child. (*See* Appellant's Br., 8.) She finds no out-of-state authority that directly supports her position that the right exists; and in fact, she finds the opposite. (*See* Appellant's Br., 8.) So, what she argues instead is that neither legally nor factually was Miguel "an adult for all purposes." (Appellant's Br., 9–10.) And, making the policy argument that "the better rule" is to recognize a parent's authority to reasonably

discipline any high-school student that they "still ha[ve] responsibility for," she contends that, one way or another, the district court refused her a defense which would have negated the mens rea her conviction required. (Appellant's Br., 9, 11–12.)

Because Andazola's views conflict with Kansas statute and the defense's origins, however, her conviction must stand.

Standard of Review

Whether Kansas law affords Andazola a parental-discipline defense raises a question of law this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Roeder*, 300 Kan. 901, 914, 336 P.3d 831 (2014). To the extent answering that question necessitates statutory interpretation, that too presents a question of law over which this Court's review is unlimited. *State v. Angelo*, — Kan. —, 518 P.3d 27, 35 (2022).

Argument

On the surface, Andazola's claim has some appeal. Parents have a fundamental, constitutionally protected liberty interest in directing their children's upbringing. *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 66 (2000) (listing various, like cases); *Interest of P.R.*, 312 Kan. 767, 778, 480 P.3d 778 (2021). Kansas law indeed recognizes parental discipline as an available, common-law (i.e., judicially derived) defense to battery—domestic battery's lesser-included offense. *State v. Severns*, 158 Kan. 453, 459, 148 P.2d 488 (1944) (tacitly recognizing the defense); *State v. Wade*, 45 Kan. App. 2d 128, 136–38, 245 P.3d 1083 (2010) (expressly recognizing the defense); *State v. Harris*, 46 Kan. App. 2d 848, 851–52, 264 P.3d 1055 (2011) ("[B]attery is a lesser included offense of domestic battery.");Black's Law Dictionary 334 (10th ed. 2014) (defining "common law" as "[t]he body of law derived from judicial decisions, rather than from statutes or constitutions."). And "[f]ew rights are more fundamental" than

an accused's constitutional entitlement to present his or her own theory of defense. *State v. Evans*, 275 Kan. 95, 102, 62 P.3d 220 (2003) (quoting *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973)).

The appeal of Andazola's claim dissipates, however, with closer inspection.

Though constitutionally protected, the parent-child relationship is constitutionally subject to State control. See Parham v. J.R., 442 U.S. 584, 603 (1979) ("[A] state is not without constitutional control over parental discretion in dealing with children"); In re J.D.C., 284 Kan. 155, 166, 159 P.3d 974 (2007) ("That right"—the parent's right to control their child's upbringing—"is not absolute."). And the age at which the parent-child relationship terminates generally is a "state-law issue." Stanton v. Stanton, 429 U.S. 501, 501–04, n.4 (stating that, where its child-support legislation is concerned, so long as it treats "the two sexes . . . equally," "Utah is free to adopt either 18 or 21 as the age of majority;" that age-classification question is a "state-law issue for the state . . . to decide."); see also Morrissey v. Perry, 137 U.S. 157, 159 (1890) ("The age at which an infant shall be competent to do any acts or perform any duties, military or civil, depends wholly upon the legislatures."); Jungjohann v. Jungjohann, 213 Kan. 329, 334, 516 P.2d 904 (1973) ("The rule is settled beyond a doubt that . . . the legislature has full power to fix and change the age of majority."").

Though judicially recognized, a rule of common law—affirmative defenses included—may be legislatively modified. *Tillman v. Goodpasture*, 313 Kan. 278, 293–94, 485 P.3d 656 (2021) ("Generally, the Legislature is empowered to modify the common law."); *State ex rel. Schneider v. Ligget*, 233 Kan. 610, 612–13, 576 P.2d 221 (1978) (discussing that neither the federal nor state constitutions "prohibit changes in the law which affect a person's rights as they existed at common law."); *see Clark v. Arizona*, 548 U.S. 735, 746–79 (2006) (holding that

Arizona constitutionally narrowed its insanity affirmative defense and the mens rea evidence a defendant may present towards that defense when it legislatively eliminated one component of the English-law-derived *M'Naghten* insanity rule). And "[w]hen a statute conflicts with the common law, the statute, of course, controls." *Bd. of Neosho Cnty. Comr's v. Cent. Air Conditioning Co.*, 235 Kan. 977, 981–82, 683 P.2d 1282 (1984).

And as "fundamental" as a defendant's right to present his or her chosen defense may be, that right remains "subject to statutory rules and case law." *Evans*, 275 Kan. at 102. A defendant has no right to raise a legally invalid, valid-but-inapplicable, or legislatively eliminated defense. *Roeder*, 300 Kan. at 914–19 ("[A] defendant is not entitled to present . . . a legally [in]sufficient theory of defense," such as "ignorance of the law;" nor is a defendant entitled to present a defense "the facts of th[e] case . . . unequivocally preclude."); *State v. Pennington*, 281 Kan. 426, 440, 132 P.3d 902 (2006) ("Although the evidence [defendant] sought to present . . . would have provided a defense under the former insanity defense standard, there is no constitutional right to present evidence relevant only to a defense that has been eliminated by the legislature.").

"[O]ur legislature has not statutorily established parental discipline as an affirmative defense," *Wade*, 45 Kan. App. 2d at 136, let alone expressly directed whether an 18-year-old's parent may claim that defense—but it has as good as done so.

On the broader subject of parental control, K.S.A. 38-141, first enacted in 1996, made our legislature's views clear. That provision addresses itself to "Parents' rights to exercise primary control over the upbringing of their children." K.S.A. 38-141. Therein, the legislature announces that this state's public policy is that "parents shall retain the fundamental right to exercise primary control over the care and upbringing of their children in their charge," but

"children shall have the right to protection from abuse and neglect." K.S.A. 38-141(b). Elsewhere in the statute, the legislature explains exactly who this intended "parent"-"child" relationship includes: a "'parent' mean[ing] a natural parent, an adoptive parent, a stepparent or a guardian or conservator of a child who is liable by law to maintain, care for or support the child," and a "'[c]hild,' mean[ing] a person *under 18 years of age*." K.S.A. 38-141(a)(1)–(2) (emphasis added). By legislating that the right of parental control extends only to control over "person[s] under 18 years of age," K.S.A. 38-141 necessarily displaces any common-law notion—if ever at all one existed—that the law defends a parent's right to physically discipline an 18-year-old child.

The legislature's contrasting criminalization of abuse of a child and domestic battery does the same. Those crimes appear in separate articles, the former within "Crimes Affecting . . . Children," the latter within "Crimes Against Persons." *Compare* K.S.A. 21-5602 *with* K.S.A. 21-5414. Abuse occurs "against a child" if done against an individual "*under* 18 years of age." K.S.A. 21-5602(a) (emphasis added). And one abusive act the statute prohibits is "knowingly inflicting *cruel and inhuman* corporal punishment." K.S.A. 21-5602(a)(1)(B), (a)(3)(B) (emphasis added). By criminalizing only that "corporal punishment" inflicted "against a child under 18 years of age" which, at a minimum, is "cruel and inhuman," the legislature seemingly defined the abuse-of-a-child offense in terms that allow for reasoned and humane corporal punishment done against an individual under 18 years old. K.S.A. 21-5602(a)(1)(B), (a)(3)(B) (emphasis added); *see Bowers v. State*, 283 Md. 115, 127, 389 A.2d 341 (1978) ("By electing to restrict the criminal liability of parents under the statute only to those cases where the parent or custodian causes his child or ward to sustain physical injury as a result of cruel or inhuman treatment or as a result of other acts of malice, the Legislature

apparently intended the definition of abuse to correspond to that type of conduct which would have sufficed to destroy the privilege to discipline at common law."). Domestic battery, however, occurs only if against a "'family or household member'"—"children" included—who is "18 years of age or older." K.S.A. 21-5414(a)–(b), (e)(2) (emphasis added). And any "bodily harm" or objectively offense "physical contact" accomplishes the criminal act. K.S.A. 21-5414(a)–(b); see also State v. Cooper, No. 113,401, 2016 WL 4585096, *3 (Kan. App. 2016) (unpublished opinion) (stating that "an objective standard that looks to the manner in which the defendant acted, as perceived by a reasonable onlooker," governs the "rude, insulting or angry" element of battery). Thus, the two statutes show that the legislature disapproves of an offender causing their "18 years of age or older" live-in child any "bodily harm" or offensive "physical contact," but grants some allowance for reasonable corporal punishment of a child "under 18 years of age." Compare K.S.A. 21-5414(a)–(b), (e)(2) with K.S.A. 21-5602(a)(1)(B), (a)(3)(B).

And this makes sense. When, in *Wade*, a panel of this Court extended the parental-discipline defense its first express judicial recognition, it did so acknowledging that the defense originates from the jurisprudential precept that "the parent of a *minor* child . . . [is] justified in using a reasonable amount of force upon a child for the purpose of safeguarding or promoting the child's welfare." *Wade*, 45 Kan. App. 2d at 136 (quoting *Bowers v. State*, 283 Md. 115, 126, 389 A.2d 341 (1978)) (emphasis added). One legal encyclopedia states the justification for the defense this way:

A parent, being charged with the training and education of his or her child, has the right to adopt such disciplinary measures for the child as will enable him or her to discharge his or her parental duty. Furthermore, "legal custody" carries with it the right and obligation to make long-range decisions involving discipline. Accordingly, a parent or legal custodian has the right to correct the child by reasonable and timely punishment, including corporal punishment,

without being criminally liable.

59 Am. Jur. 2d, Parent and Child § 25. At least in part, therefore, the right to discipline has always issued from the legal responsibility a child's minority status places on its parent or custodian. In Kansas, minority status extends "to"—not past—"the age of eighteen." K.S.A. 38-101. At that point, nearly all the parent's legal obligations toward the child cease. *See* K.S.A. 38-141(a)—(b) (legislating that parents retain primary control over their children's upbringing until age 18); *In re Pace*, 26 Kan. App. 2d 538, 539, 989 P.2d 297 (1999), *superseded by statute on other grounds* ("[A] minor who has been emancipated as a matter of law under K.S.A. 38-101 is not subject to the provisions of the child in need of care code."). When those obligations end, so too ought the right to discipline.

This understanding of the defense is entirely consistent with the child-support and drinking-age provisions Andazola cites. To further her argument that "Miguel was not an adult for all purposes," Andazola emphasizes that, first, a parent's obligation to pay child support extends past a child's 18th birthday if and so long as he or she still attends high school, see K.S.A. 23-3001(b)(2), (c), and, second, a person under the 21-year-old drinking age may nonetheless drink alcohol with their parent's permission, provision, and supervision, see K.S.A. 41-727(e). (Appellant's Br., 9–10.) But the fact the legislature has determined that an 18-year-old child-of-divorce need not abandon their education for lack of resources, or the fact that it grants a parent the conditional privilege—not the "duty," as Andazola claims—to allow their underaged child to consume alcohol, does not mean it regards parental discipline—physical or otherwise—as legally necessary and thus protected. If "paying child support does not . . . entitle[a parent] to parenting time," Matter of Marriage of Lewis and Bush, 62 Kan. App. 2d 284, 289–90, 513 P.3d 494 (2022), and if "[t]he law clearly presumes that

people 18 years of age or older have reached a level of maturity that renders them fully culpable for the crimes they commit," *State v. Ruggles*, 297 Kan. 675, 685, 304 P.3d 338 (2013), then certainly neither extended child-support obligations nor an allowance made for underage drinking entitle a parent to physically discipline their 18-year-old child.

Miguel's general acquiescence to Andazola's parental authority cannot immunize her either. Citing an 147-year-old out-of-state case, Andazola suggests that Miguel's voluntary submission to her discipline and household rules made her actions legal. (Appellant's Br., 10.) In State v. Chavez, 310 Kan. 421, 430 34, 447 P.3d 364 (2019), the Kansas Supreme Court rejected this very sort of "implied waiver" argument. All the reasons that *Chavez* held "the protected person under a PFA order does not have the authority to unilaterally modify the court order by waiving its restraints or consenting to its violation" apply to Andazola's domestic battery of Miguel. Chavez, 310 Kan. at 434. The legislature made Andazola's conduct a crime—without provision for consent (something it provided for when defining her other crime of conviction). See Chavez, 310 Kan. at 43; compare also K.S.A. 21-5414(a)(2) (no mention of consent) with K.S.A. 21-5813(a)(1) (defining criminal-damage-of-property to extend only to damage done "without the consent" of the property-interest holder). And it not only made it a crime, it made it a crime apart from other forms of battery. Thus, K.S.A. 21-5414 reflects the legislature's unique concern for violence within the home. And though the criminalized act harms an individual, the crime occurs also "against the peace and dignity of the State of Kansas." Chavez, 310 Kan, at 431. The legislature's intended "protection of domestic violence victims is diluted, not promoted, by allowing a batterer to avoid prosecution . . . by claiming to have perceived that the victim's conduct manifested a consent to the violation." Chavez, 301 Kan. at 434. Andazola cannot use Miguel's consent to backdoor

an otherwise inapplicable defense of parental-discipline.

She also, finally, cannot prove the district court's rejection of her parental-discipline defense meant the court "refused to evaluate evidence of *mens rea* and only looked at *actus reus*." (Appellant's Br. 11.) In making this argument, Andazola claims that, without regard to Miguel's age, her parental-discipline mindset negated her crime's *mens* rea." (Appellant's Br., 11–12.) In so arguing, however, Andazola confuses the very nature of her claimed defense and her crime.

"[A] true affirmative defense does not serve to disprove an essential element of the crime, but merely consists of facts which might exonerate a defendant." *State v. Kershner*, 15 Kan. App. 2d 17, 19, 801 P.2d 68 (1990); *see also* Black's Law Dictionary 509 (10th ed. 2014) (defining "affirmative defense" as "[a] defendant's assertion of facts and argument that, if true, will defeat the . . . prosecution's claim, even if all the allegations in the complaint are true."). With respect to battery offenses like Andazola's, the defense of parental discipline operates as an affirmative defense rather than some evidence negating *mens rea. See Wade*, 45 Kan. App. 2d at 135–40 (recognizing and repeatedly identifying the defense of parental discipline as an "affirmative defense"); *but cf. Risley on Behalf of Risley v. Risley*, No. 119,770, 2019 WL 4554756, *8 (Kan. App. 2019) (unpublished opinion) (suggesting that, where a crime requires the "*intent* to injure," the determination of "whether a parent went beyond appropriate parental discipline could go to the issue of the parent's intent because we see parental discipline as an effort by a parent to compel his or her child to act or not act in a certain way as opposed to an intent to injure.").

This is so because the "knowingly" *mens rea* of her crime required proving only that she acted aware that her conduct was reasonably certain to have caused physical contact with

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